RECEIVED

Mar 04 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL LARONE WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001759

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in excluding evidence that the decedent had methamphetamine in his blood, where a bag was discovered by police at the scene of the shooting, which contained numerous items associated with the manufacture of methamphetamine, but police ignored this evidence and did not collect it, which was central to Appellant's defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Lexington County grand jury for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 277-280. Appellant's trial was held before the Honorable William P. Keesley and a jury from October 7 – 10, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Robert Madsen and Kebra Simpson. R. 1. The state was represented by Savanna Goude and Joel Kozak. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 268. The judge sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for murder and five-years imprisonment for possession of a weapon. R. 274.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 24, 2016, Dayyan Felder contacted Nakerrius Pressley in order to buy marijuana. R. 14, l. 23 – 15, l. 1. Felder arrived at Pressley's house with Appellant, who Pressley said he had never met before. R. 15, ll. 2 – 14. According to Pressley, Appellant offered to sell Pressley a gun, but Pressley said he was not interested. Pressley sold marijuana to Felder and Appellant and they left. R. 16, ll. 1 – 6.

About an hour later, Appellant and Felder allegedly returned to Pressley's house to purchase more marijuana. R. 16, ll. 6 – 8. When Appellant and Felder arrived the second time, Pressley got into the backseat of the car that Appellant was driving. R. 16, ll. 8 – 12. Pressley claimed that he agreed to make a trade with Appellant in which Pressley would give Appellant marijuana in exchange for a gun. However, Pressley claimed that Appellant did not have any bullets for the gun with him, so they all agreed to go to Appellant's house to get the bullets to complete the trade. R. 16, ll. 13 – 22.

As they were getting ready to pull out of Pressley's driveway to go to Appellant's house, Pressley's brother, Kevadric,¹ pulled into the driveway. R. 17, ll. 4 – 7. According to Pressley, he got out of Appellant's car and into Kevadric's car. Pressley and Kevadric followed Appellant and Felder down a dirt road. R. 17, ll. 7 – 18. While on the dirt road, the two cars pulled next to each other so that the driver's side doors were side by side so that Appellant and Kevadric, the drivers of each car, could make a "hand to hand" transaction. Kevadric handed Appellant the marijuana but then Appellant drove away without giving Kevadric the gun. R. 17, ll. 19 – 22.

¹ Kevadric is the decedent in this case who was killed by a single gunshot wound to the head. R. 222, ll. 6 – 8.

After Appellant drove away, Pressley claimed that Felder, who was with Appellant, sent him a Facebook message telling him to follow Felder and Appellant “around the curve.” R. 17, l. 23 – 18, l. 1. Pressley then recalled:

So [Kevadric] drove up, he went around the curve, we pulled up to where [Kevadric] and [Appellant] could make a hand to hand transaction and [Kevadric] asked me if I had the money. I handed [Kevadric] the \$30. [Kevadric] was handing the \$30 out the window. [Appellant] had the gun in his hand and a box of bullets and was handing that out the window and he shot [Kevadric].

R. 18, ll. 2 – 8. After the shooting, Appellant and Felder drove away and Pressley called the police. R. 21, l. 19 – 22, l. 6. Pressley admitted that, after the shooting, he made several threats to Felder on social media because he believed that Kevadric’s death was Felder’s fault. R. 22, ll. 13 – 25.

Felder also testified. Felder admitted that Pressley was his “plug” – the person Felder purchased marijuana from. R. 73, l. 22 – 74, l. 17. Felder recalled that on November 24, 2016, Appellant picked him up so that they could go buy marijuana from Pressley. R. 76, l. 8 – 78, l. 25. According to Felder, Kevadric was present when Appellant and Felder arrived at Pressley’s house. R. 79, ll. 2 – 9. Felder recalled that he was standing outside of the car with Pressley smoking cigars while Appellant and Kevadric were in the car with the windows rolled up. R. 80, ll. 1 – 7.

Appellant and Felder left Pressley’s house to go sell marijuana to other people but returned approximately one hour later to buy more marijuana from Pressley. R. 80, l. 8 – 81, l. 12. When Felder got back in touch with Pressley, Pressley asked if Appellant would trade a gun for more marijuana. R. 81, ll. 11 – 16. Pressley and Kevadric then followed Appellant and Felder to where Appellant said the gun was located. R. 81, l. 18 – 82, l. 5. Felder then testified:

[W]e ended up turning on a dirt road and [Appellant] tells me that we're gonna do half the transaction there, about giving them bullets, so I hit [Pressley] up and he was like okay. They pulled beside the car and [Appellant] tells me to put the bullets on the dashboard, and tells me to tell them to toss the weed in the car. They toss the weed in the car and [Appellant] just pulls off.

R. 82, ll. 14 – 21.

Felder said that he told Appellant not to continue driving away and that Appellant responded by saying: "I ain't gonna take his weed." R. 83, ll. 4 – 9. Felder then claimed that he and Appellant drove back to where Pressley and Kevadric were and Appellant pulled out a gun and shot one time into their car. R. 83, ll. 9 – 21.

Daniel Schirra, an officer with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, arrived on scene to find Kevadric sitting in the driver's seat of his vehicle with a single gunshot wound to his head, and with Pressley pacing back and forth outside the car stating "they smoked my brother." R. 44, l. 13 – 48, l. 20. Dalton Shull, an EMS worker for Lexington County, arrived on scene also and confirmed that Kevadric was deceased. R. 56, l. 1 – 59, l. 17.

Detective Miles Rawl with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department responded to the scene and learned that Felder was a "witness" to the shooting. R. 103, l. 18 – 105, l. 5. Rawl contacted Felder and Felder claimed that Appellant was the shooter. R. 105, ll. 6 – 14. Several officers then went to Appellant's girlfriend's house to try to locate Appellant. R. 105, l. 15 – 107, l. 9.

Rawl stated that while he was speaking to Appellant's girlfriend outside of her house, he saw headlights coming down her driveway. R. 109, ll. 12 – 25. Rawl said as the vehicle approached, he could see that the windows were rolled down and Appellant was driving. R. 110, ll. 1 – 18. Rawl claimed that Appellant said "who the fuck are you" at which point Rawl drew

his firearm, stated he was with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, and ordered Appellant to stop. R. 110, ll. 18 – 22.

Rawl maintained that Appellant then turned his vehicle around and drove away. R. 110, l. 22 – 111, l. 5. Rawl claimed that Appellant fled for about two-and-a-half miles before crashing into a tree and fleeing on foot. R. 111, l. 14 – 112, l. 24. Nicholas Parker with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department K-9 Unit responded to the location of the crash and attempted to track Appellant with his dog. R. 120, ll. 10 – 22. The dog located Appellant “on the other side of the yard” from where the crash was. R. 120, l. 23 – 121, l. 10.

Appellant was placed under arrest and a magazine from a handgun was found “laying under [Appellant] on the ground.” R. 121, l. 11 – 122, l. 5. A black handgun was also found “on the path” that Appellant had supposedly taken from his vehicle to where he was arrested by law enforcement. R. 136, ll. 10 – 20. When officers searched the vehicle that Appellant was driving, they found a spent shell casing underneath the back seat. R. 170, ll. 1 – 15. Michelle Eichenmiller who was a firearms examiner with SLED testified that the spent shell casing was fired from the gun that was recovered from the scene where Appellant was arrested. R. 214, ll. 6 – 17. Eichenmiller also opined that a bullet which was recovered from the decedent's car was fired by the same gun. R. 214, l. 18 – 215, l. 9.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in excluding evidence that the decedent had methamphetamine in his blood, because a bag was discovered by police at the scene of the shooting, which contained numerous items associated with the manufacture of methamphetamine, but police ignored this evidence and did not collect it, which was central to Appellant's defense.

Relevant Facts

Doug Novak, who was the evidence supervisor for the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, responded to the scene in this case to assist the lead investigator with collecting evidence. R. 62, l. 7 – 63, l. 25. Novak testified that he searched around the decedent's car for evidence but found "nothing." R. 66, l. 24 – 67, l. 10. However, on cross-examination Novak was asked about a bag found at the scene containing "meth-related items," which the police failed to collect. Novak admitted:

What we did with that is we found probably about a hundred yards back from the scene was a bag in the middle of the road that appeared to have meth – products in it which consists of pill making – Sudafed in it, cans, there were pipes and little other things that they would use to make meth with and it appeared it had been there longer than a day, so we didn't collect it.

R. 70, ll. 1 – 9.

Upon further questioning, Novak admitted that he called a narcotics officer to respond to the scene after discovering these items and the narcotics officer confirmed that the items were used in the manufacturing of methamphetamine. R. 70, ll. 10 – 20. Furthermore, Novak admitted that the narcotics officer had in fact collected these items, but they were never tested for DNA or fingerprints and were ultimately destroyed by law enforcement. R. 70, ll. 21 – 24.

Doctor Janice Ross was the pathologist who performed the autopsy on the decedent in this case. R. 217, l. 25 – 220, l. 6. On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Dr. Ross

whether it was standard procedure to run a toxicology screen on a decedent during an autopsy and the solicitor objected. R. 222, ll. 14 – 24. Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel informed the judge that he was going to elicit testimony that the decedent in this case had methamphetamine in his blood. R. 223, ll. 2 – 9.

The solicitor responded that this was improper character evidence that had “nothing to do with the actual facts” of the case. R. 223, ll. 11 – 16. Defense counsel argued that it was important because law enforcement had discovered items on the scene that were used to manufacture methamphetamine which they had ignored in their investigation. R. 223, ll. 17 – 21. Counsel pointed out that the decedent’s positive toxicology screen showing methamphetamine in his blood showed that there may have been a connection between the decedent and the meth manufacturing items which were ignored by law enforcement. R. 223, l. 22 – 224, l. 12.

The judge ruled:

I’m struggling to see how it’s relevant, but even if it were relevant based on what you just argued, in my mind – it should be excluded under Rule 403 because any probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues and misleading the jury.

R. 226, ll. 14 – 20. The judge then sustained the solicitor’s objection. R. 226, l. 21.

Defense counsel then made a proffer by asking Dr. Ross about the toxicology screen done on the decedent in this case. Dr. Ross confirmed that the decedent did have methamphetamine in his blood. R. 227, ll. 4 – 24.

Discussion

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having *any* tendency to make the existence of *any* fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than

it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE (emphasis added). Under Rule 403, SCRE, relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.” State v. Spears, 403 S.C. 247, 253, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 2013).

The judge erred in excluding Dr. Ross’ testimony that the decedent had methamphetamine in his system. Throughout the trial, Appellant’s defense was that the story told by Pressley and Felder did not make sense and was not true. Defense counsel challenged the state’s theory of the case in opening and closing arguments, and also through cross-examination by pointing out inconsistencies in the testimony and calling into question the thoroughness of law enforcement’s investigation. Put simply, Appellant’s defense was reasonable doubt based on a sloppy investigation and inconsistent eyewitness accounts. R. 241, 1. 9 – 255, 1. 3.

Defense counsel was able to connect the decedent to the bag of items used to manufacture methamphetamine, which was ignored by law enforcement. This bag of meth-related items was found near the decedent’s car on the same dirt road where he was shot. Counsel effectively elicited testimony on cross-examination that law enforcement had collected and destroyed this evidence because they believed it to be irrelevant to the shooting. However, the decedent’s toxicology report showed that methamphetamine was in his system which could have been used by counsel to show that law enforcement made a mistake in ignoring this important evidence. The decedent’s toxicology result was relevant in connecting the decedent to the bag of meth-related items and casting doubt on the eyewitnesses’ story about a marijuana deal. The trial court erred in refusing to allow counsel to make this connection before the jury as it was critical to Appellant’s reasonable doubt defense.

In State v. Washington, 424 S.C. 374, 404, 818 S.E.2d 459, 474-475 (Ct. App. 2018), this Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence that the decedent had a blood alcohol level of .235. In Washington, the appellant argued that the decedent's blood alcohol level was probative as to whether the decedent had initiated the fight which ultimately resulted in the appellant killing the decedent. Id. Washington maintained that the decedent's high blood alcohol level would have caused the decedent to have "a tendency toward overreaction to a perceived affront, and aggressive or violent behavior." Id.

However, the Washington Court found that there was no evidence in the record that the decedent was the aggressor or that his high blood alcohol level would have caused him to be aggressive or violent. In fact, in her proffered testimony, the forensic pathologist said that she could not say whether the decedent's blood alcohol level would have caused him to be aggressive. Id. at 406-407, 818 S.E.2d at 476.

Unlike in Washington, there was a strong correlation in this case between the results from the decedent's toxicology report and the bag of meth-related items on scene which was ignored by law enforcement. Had the trial judge not erroneously excluded this evidence, defense counsel would have been able to convincingly argue that law enforcement ignored and destroyed critical evidence and cast serious doubt on the accuracy of their investigation. This was essential because Appellant's trial defense was reasonable doubt.

In State v. Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011), the Supreme Court found that the trial court had not abused its discretion in excluding the results from a "preliminary urine analysis" test done on the victim in a murder case which allegedly showed the victim had used cocaine two days prior to being killed. Significantly, the pathologist testified in her proffered testimony that this particular test was unreliable, and no confirmatory testing was

done on the victim. Id. The Dickerson Court agreed with the trial court's conclusion that this evidence was inadmissible due to the unreliable nature of the test. Id. Unlike in Dickerson, in this case there was no dispute regarding the reliability of the toxicology screen done on the decedent.