STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Lexington County

The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 04 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL LARONE WILLIAMS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001759

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 73986

South Carolina Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6307

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Circuit Court Acted Within Its Discretion In Excluding The Victim's Toxicology Results Under Rule 403 Because The Probative Value Was Substantially Outweighed By The Danger Of Unfair Prejudice, Confusion Of The Issues, And Misleading The Jury.**

Relevant evidence is anything that makes “the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Even if relevant, “evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.” Rule 403, SCRE. To understand the probative value of the contested evidence, courts “must consider what was practically in dispute at trial.” State v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 327, 844 S.E.2d 651, 655 (2020). On the other side of the equation, “[u]nfair prejudice is the tendency of the evidence to suggest a decision based on something other than the legitimate probative force of the evidence.” Id. at 328, 844 S.E.2d at 656. As applied here, the circuit court acted within its discretion under Rule 403 in finding that the probative value of the evidence, if any, was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

Appellant takes this Court on windy road in arguing that the toxicology results make any consequential fact more or less probable. See Rule 401, SCRE. According to appellant, the toxicology results connect the victim to the bag law enforcement found one hundred yards away. (App. Brief 10). By connecting the victim to the bag, appellant believes there could be “more to the story” than what the two eyewitnesses provided at trial. (App. Brief 12). One is forced to speculate what that “something” is because neither eyewitness was questioned about the bag at trial. Additionally, appellant believes the toxicology results reinforce that law enforcement should have conducted additional forensic analysis on the bag to identify its owner. (App. Brief 11). Had law enforcement done so, the results may have shown the two eyewitness accounts do not add up.

The problem with appellant's reasoning is that the toxicology results do not connect the victim to the bag. As discussed above, law enforcement found the bag approximately one hundred yards from the taped-off crime scene. (R. 70, l. 4-5). The initial responding officer did not even see it when he arrived to render aid and secure the scene. (R. 52, l. 24-25). Additionally, the physical condition of the bag indicated that no one involved in this case left it there. To the contrary, investigators assessed that it "appeared to have been there longer than that day." (R. 70, l. 8-9). The bag had no distinctive characteristics, such as an identification card or nametag, to connect it to anyone involved in the case. Furthermore, nothing in the testimony of the two eyewitnesses suggests the bag is related to this murder. In fact, the two eyewitnesses were never asked any questions about the bag. Therefore, because the bag has no connection to the case, the victim's positive toxicology result does not render any consequential fact any more or less likely. See Rule 401, SCRE.

A simple analogy may assist the Court. Consider a traffic stop for suspected driving under the influence. One hundred yards away, the officer finds a rusty beer can on the side of the road. Later on, a breathalyzer test reveals the driver has alcohol in his system. The positive breathalyzer test does not connect the driver to the rusty beer can found on the road one hundred yards away. The same logic would apply here. Like the rusty beer can, the presence of this discarded bag on the side of the road is simply a coincidence. As such, the circuit court rightfully found the positive toxicology results had little, if any, probative value.

Furthermore, "the probative value of any particular bit of evidence is obviously affected by the scarcity or abundance of other evidence on the same point." State v. James, 355 S.C. 25, 35, 583 S.E.2d 745, 750 (2003)(quoting Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 185). To the extent the toxicology results would have shown there was something "more to the story" or

discredited law enforcement's investigation, appellant was able to do so through other means. Several officers testified about the bag and its contents. (R. 52, l. 22-25; 70, l. 1-24; 177, l. 11-22). The crime scene investigator conceded on cross-exam that it was not subjected to fingerprint or DNA analysis to identify the owner. (R. 70, l. 21-25). He further conceded that a narcotics officer collected the bag and disposed of it. (R. 70, l. 10-24). In other words, appellant was able to articulate his arguments without referring to the victim's toxicology results.

In contrast to the minimal probative value of this evidence, there was a substantial danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading of the jury. See Rule 403, SCRE. Simply put, the victim's positive methamphetamine test would have been an inflammatory distraction. The jury might have rendered its verdict based on its assessment of the character or lifestyle of the victim—not the evidence supporting the elements of murder. The circuit court wisely did not put the jury in that position. The risk of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading the jury would have substantially outweighed any probative value under Rule 403.

Appellant discounts the prejudicial nature of this evidence, noting that the jury had already heard evidence of the victim's involvement in the marijuana deal. (App. Brief 12-13). According to appellant, the "entire case was about drugs." (App. Brief 12). But equating marijuana with methamphetamine is akin to comparing apples and oranges. The social stigma, violence, and health risks surrounding methamphetamine are qualitatively different than marijuana. The General Assembly has recognized the distinction by providing harsher punishments for methamphetamine than marijuana. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370 with S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375. As such, appellant's argument carries little weight.

The circuit court's ruling also aligns with relevant precedent in this state. As appellant recognizes, in State v. Washington, 424 S.C. 374, 818 S.E.2d 459 (Ct. App. 2019)(*overturned on*

*other grounds* 431 S.C. 394, 848 S.E.2d 779 (2020)), the defendant was charged with shooting another man in the parking lot of a nightclub. At trial, he attempted to introduce the victim's toxicology results, which revealed a blood alcohol content of .235. The defendant argued the toxicology results were relevant in showing the victim's decreased sensitivity to pain, lowered inhibitions, a tendency to overreaction, and aggressive or violent behavior. *Id.* at 404-05, 818 S.E.2d at 475. The trial court refused to admit the evidence under Rule 403. After his conviction, the defendant claimed that the ruling was an abuse of discretion.

This Court rejected that argument, noting that there was no evidence in the record that the victim was the aggressor. Rather, the evidence demonstrated that the defendant followed the victim to the parking lot and struck the first blow. *Id.* at 406, 818 S.E.2d at 476. Additionally, the Court held it was "mere speculation" to conclude the victim's intoxication would have affected his behavior as the defendant claimed. *Id.* To the contrary, the pathologist testified that she could not predict the victim's behavior from his blood alcohol content. *Id.* As such, the minimal probative value of the toxicology results was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *Id.* In reaching this conclusion, the Court also noted that the defendant was able to offer evidence of the victim's intoxication through other evidence, specifically witness testimony that he had been drinking that night. *Id.*

Appellant argues that this case is different because unlike Washington "there was a strong correlation" between the toxicology results and the bag. (App. Brief 11). But as discussed above, there was no correlation here, only coincidence. Like the situation in Washington, connecting the victim's toxicology results to this bag would involve "mere speculation." *Id.* The Rules of Evidence require more. Accordingly, this case does not present any exceptional circumstances warranting reversal. See Collins, 409 S.C. at 28, 763 S.E.2d at 534 ("A trial judge's decision

regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”)(quoting State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003)). The State would respectfully ask that the circuit court’s ruling be affirmed on appeal.

## **II. Even If The Circuit Court Should Have Allowed The Introduction Of The Victim’s Toxicology Results, Such Error Is Harmless.**

As the Court is aware, some errors “are so insignificant and inconsequential they do not require reversal of a conviction.” State v. Reyes, Op. No. 28004 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 16, 2020)(Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 49 at 17). If a reviewing court is satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the guilty verdict, then the conviction should be affirmed under a harmless error analysis. State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389-90, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” Reyes, Op. No. 28004 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 16, 2020)(Shearhouse Adv. Sh. 49 at 17)(quoting State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). In conducting this analysis, courts often consider whether the “defendant’s guilt has been conclusively proven ... such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.” Id. (quoting State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 538, 763 S.E.2d 22, 29-30 (2014).

Even if the circuit court erred in its evidentiary ruling, appellant’s conviction should be affirmed because any error is harmless. Had the jury learned that the victim’s toxicology results indicated the presence of methamphetamine, its verdict would have been the same. Simply put, the toxicology report does not undermine either the two eyewitness accounts or law enforcement’s investigation. Recall that when law enforcement found the victim, he had a bullet wound to the left side of the head, he was slumped in the vehicle, and his foot pressed against the gas pedal. (R.

48, l. 19; 57, l. 21-22; 66, l. 7). The car was still running and had been driven into an embankment. (R. 65, l. 18-23). According to the pathologist, the bullet entered above the victim's left ear, went straight through his brain, and exited the other side. (R. 220, l. 13-24). Law enforcement recovered a bullet from the front passenger door. (R. 173, l. 1-4). Later on that evening, appellant fled from the police and was found in possession of the murder weapon. (R. 136, l. 13-20; 214, l. 15-17; 215, l. 8-9)

These facts leave no room for "something more to be going on." Toxicology report or not, the only rational conclusion from this evidence is that appellant murdered the victim as the two eyewitnesses testified. Accordingly, even if this Court finds error in the evidentiary ruling, such error is harmless.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks that appellant's convictions and sentence be affirmed.